MICROSCOPIC AND FUNCTIONAL STUDIES ON EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

Kai Härkönen Master's thesis Health Biosciences Faculty of Health Sciences, UEF School of Medicine Institute of Biomedicine October 2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Special thanks belong to my supervisors Kirsi Rilla and Arto Koistinen who gave me technical and scientifical quidance. I would also like to thank all the members of institute of Biomedicine and SIB Labs who have helped me with my Pro Gradu project.

University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Health Sciences

Health Biosciences

Kai Härkönen: Microscopic and functional studies on extracellular vesicles

Master's thesis 49 pages

Supervisors: PhD, docent Kirsi Rilla and PhD, docent Arto Koistinen.

ABSTRACT:

Importance of extracellular vesicles as multifunctional tools of intercellular communication has grown during last fifteen years. All cell types secrete these vesicles which conceal, among other things, RNA, DNA and proteins inside a bilipid layer. With the help of these vesicles, cells can send molecules to other cells, even in a distance. The bilipid layer prevents degradation of the contents of the vesicles. The role of extracellular vesicles in the development of cancer has been studied intensively and promising findings have been obtained. Metastasis and invasion of cancer cells require communication between cancer cells and their environment. Especially the use of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers for cancer seem to be possible.

In this study microscopic and functional studies were performed with extracellular vesicles isolated from cultured cells and from human body fluids. Human fibroblasts were used as target cells to study the effect of stable inducible EGFP-HAS3-MV3 melanoma cell -derived vesicles on their migration and invasion speed. Both of these properties are important in cancer metastasis. Secretion of extracellular vesicles were imaged with live cell confocal microscopy. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was used to image extracellular vesicles from different sources. Because of their small size, 30-500 nm, examination of extracellular vesicles requires high resolution from research equipment.

The results obtained in this study show that transmission electron microscopy and confocal microscopy are useful methods to study the ultrastructure, diameter and secretion mechanisms of extracellular vesicles as well as their effects on target cell behavior. Effects of extracellular vesicles isolated from melanoma-derived vesicles to the human fibroblast migration are quite low. However, there is an increase in invasion efficiency in those cells which were given melanoma-derived vesicles. After all further studies are needed.

ABBREVIATIONS

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate	
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium	
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase	
EMT	Epithelial mesenchymal transition	
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport	
EV	Extracellular vesicle	
FBS	Fetal bovine serum	
GTP	guanosine-5'-triphosphate	
HA	Hyaluronic acid	
HAS	Hyaluronan synthase	
ILV	Intraluminal vesicle	
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex	
MLCK	Myosin light chain kinase	
MVB	Multivesicular body	
RAB	Ras related protein in brain	
SNARE	Soluble NSF attachment protein receptor	
TAT-5	Transbilayer amphipathic transporter 5	
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy	
TGN	Trans-golgi –network	
TSG-101	Tumor sysceptibility gene 101	
VAMP	Vesicle associated membrane protein	
VSP-27	Vacuolar protein sorting protein 27	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION		
1.1. Ex	tracellular vesicles	7
1.1.1.	Extracellular vesicles – Anything but dust	7
1.1.2.	Nomenclature and classification of extracellular vesicles	7
1.2. Ro	le of extracellular vesicles in health and disease	.13
1.2.1.	Extracellular vesicles – multitools of cells	.13
1.2.2.	Potential of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers	.13
1.2.3.	Using of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers for cancer	.14
1.3. Hy	aluronan	.15
1.3.1. S	Structure and synthesis	.15
1.3.2. 0	General role of hyaluronan	.16
1.3.3. H	Iyaluronan, extracellular vesicles and cancer	.16
1.4. Iso	lation of extracellular vesicles	.17
1.4.1.	Challenges in vesicle isolation	.17
1.4.2.	Ultracentrifugation	.19
1.4.3.	Size exclusion chromatography	.20
1.4.4.	Ultrafiltration (UF)	.20
1.4.5.	Immuno-affinity purification	.20
1.4.6.	Acoustic purification	.21
1.4.9.	Commercial isolation kits	.22
1.5. De	tection methods of microparticles	.22
1.5.1. F	Iow cytometry	.22
1.5.2.	Dynamic light scattering	.23
1.5.3.	Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)	.23
1.5.4.	(Tunable) Resistive pulse sensing	.23
1.5.5.	Molecular composition	.24
1.6. Mi	croscopic methods to study EVs/ Imaging of EVS	.24
1.6.1.	Confocal microscopy	.24
1.6.2.	Transmission electron microscopy	.25
2. AIMS	OF THE STUDY	.26
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS		

	3.1. Cell culture	26
	3.2. Isolation of EVs by ultracentrifugation	27
	3.3. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)	27
	3.4. Confocal microscopy	27
	3.5. Migration assay	28
	3.6. Invasion assay	29
4.	RESULTS	29
	4.1. Transmission electron microscopy	29
	4.2. Live cell confocal microscopy	31
	4.3. Migration assay	32
	4.4. Invasion assay	34
4.	DISCUSSION	37
5.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	40

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

1.1.1. Extracellular vesicles – Anything but dust

Extracellular vesicles are secreted by the most of cell types and exist all over in our body. They are small vesicles which are surrounded by phospholipid bilayer. There are three main types of extracellular vesicles: exosomes (Trams, et al. 1981, Johnstone, et al. 1987), microvesicles (Holme, et al. 1994) and apoptotic bodies (Kerr, et al. 1972). In this thesis the focus is on exosomes and microvesicles. Exosomes are secreted from cells through the lysosomal machinery. In turn microvesicles are formed by direct budding from the cell surface.

In literature cell-derived vesicles have been suggested to have multiple functions. These functions are for example regulation of angiogenesis (Skog, et al. 2008a), cell signaling, inflammation and immune response (Bhatnagar, et al. 2007), maintaining homeostasis, cell waste management (Sims, et al. 1988, de Gassart, et al. 2003a) and blood coagulation (Chargaff and West. 1946).

Extracellular vesicles were found for the first time with transmission electron microscopy in Peter Wolf's blood coagulation study in 1967. They found out that small vesicles were detached from cells and called these vesicles as "platelet dust". These vesicles were thought to be just cell waste. (Wolf. 1967)

Cell-derived vesicles have been found almost all-over in our body after their discovery. Vesicles have been found from semen (Ronquist and Brody. 1985), ascites fluid (Andre, et al. 2002), bronchoalveolar lavage (Admyre, et al. 2003), urine (Pisitkun, et al. 2004), blood (Caby, et al. 2005), synovial fluid (Skriner, et al. 2006), breast milk (Admyre, et al. 2007), amniotic fluid (Keller, et al. 2007), saliva (Ogawa, et al. 2008), cerebrospinal fluid (Harrington, et al. 2009), nasal secretions (Lasser, et al. 2011) and bile (Masyuk, et al. 2010).

1.1.2. Nomenclature and classification of extracellular vesicles

Size of extracellular vesicles varies from 30 nm to 2000 nm. Vesicles can be classified in three classes based on their biogenesis i.e. exosomes (Trams, et al. 1981, Johnstone, et al. 1987), microvesicles (Holme, et al. 1994) and apoptotic bodies (Kerr, et al. 1972). Exosomes are smallest

type of vesicles and their size varies between 30 and 120 nm. In turn, size of microvesicles is between 50 and 1000 nm. Apoptotic bodies are largest and their diameter is 500-2000 nm (El Andaloussi, et al. 2013).

In addition to biogenesis, vesicles can also be classified by their origin and biological function. Thus, EVs are named as argosomes (Greco, et al. 2001), tolerosomes (Karlsson, et al. 2001), prostasomes (Brody, et al. 1983), ectosomes (Stein and Luzio. 1991), deteriosomes (Yao, et al. 1993), microparticles (Mackman. 2009), sebosomes (Nagai, et al. 2005), cardiosomes (Waldenstrom, et al. 2012) and oncosomes (Morello, et al. 2013). Abundance of possible names for extracellular vesicles is a reason why a debate for standardizing the nomenclature is currently ongoing. Approved nomenclature will make both cooperation and reading of other groups' papers easier.

1.1.3. Biogenesis of exosomes

Exosomes originate via endosomal pathway (**Figure 1**). When an early endosome matures to a late endosome by acidification, intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) form by reverse budding from cytoplasm into the lumen of the endosome. While ILVs bud to late endosome, mRNA, microRNA, DNA, proteins and lipids are packed inside these vesicles. After budding of intraluminal vesicles the late endosome is called as a multivesicular body (MVB) (Johnstone, et al. 1987). Multivesicular body may fuse with a lysosome when it and its cargo will be degradated. Another scenario is that the multivesicular body fuses with the plasma membrane (Futter, et al. 1996). In this case the intraluminal vesicles are released to the extracellular space and after that they are called exosomes (Trams, et al. 1981, Harding, et al. 1983). It is also possible that MVBs act as a storage for some important molecules as in the case of MHC class II in dendritic cells (Kleijmeer, et al. 2001).

What is then a molecular machinery behind sorting of cargo to intraluminal vesicles/exosomes? There is not currently a certain answer to that question, but several possible pathways are described in multiple publications. Sorting of cargo in MVB takes place in two steps. In the first step of the process, specific proteins at the outer membrane of the late endosome are gathered together. In the second step an intraluminal vesicle buds inside the endosome. Best quess is probably a pathway that is regulated by ESCRT machinery (endosomal sorting complexes required for transport) (Katzmann, et al. 2001). This is a reason why common classification of MVB-formation routes is to divide them to ESCRT-dependent and ESCRT-independent routes.

One observation is that monoubiquitinylation leads to packing of molecules to the multivesicular bodies. However all the cargo of multivesicular bodies are not ubiquitinylated which tells that ubiquitinylation is not necessary and there might be other mechanisms. (Buschow, et al. 2005) Also it has to be remembered that polyubiquitinylation is a signal that leads to degradation of its targets.

With the help of VSP-27, ESCRT -0, -I and –II can identify ubiquitinylated molecules. VSP-27 also provides TSG-101 to help. TSG-101, in turn, recruits AIP/Alix (ALG-2-interacting protein 4), which is responsible for membrane budding. Also VTA1 (vacuolar protein sorting-associated protein 1) is thought to be needed on ESCRT –dependent route. ESCRT complexes are also needed for leading membranes for lysosomes to degradation. (von Schwedler, et al. 2003) Ability of ESCRT-II to bind mRNA advocates the possibility of participitation of ESCRT machinery in sorting of exosome cargo (Irion and St Johnston. 2007).

In the light of current knowledge it is assumed that also ESCRT independent pathway exists. In this pathway a lipid called ceramide is in the biggest role. Ceramide may initiate the secretion of exosomes. Biosynthesis of ceramide is regulated by neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2). (Trajkovic, et al. 2008, Kosaka, et al. 2010)

Also in some studies clustering of exosomal cargo seems to play important role in exosome loading. It is called as a luminal domain dependent pathway, a passive mechanism, which is independent from ESCRT, ubiquitination and Hrs. Enrichment of tetraspanins and cholesterol are linked to protein sorting to intraluminal vesicles. (de Gassart, et al. 2003b, Theos, et al. 2006)



Figure 1. Exosomes originate via endosomal pathway. While an early endosome matures to the late endosome, intraluminal vesicles (ILV) bud into the endosome. After budding of intraluminal vesicles, the endosome is called as a multivesicular body (MVB). MVB may end up to lysosomal degradation or fuse with the plasma membrane. In the later phase intraluminal vesicles are released to extracellular space and called as exosomes.

1.1.4. Secretion of exosomes

As in the biogenesis of exosomes also molecular mechanisms behind secretion of exosomes remain still unclear but it is ravelling is in the process. It is known that secretion of exosomes is controlled by many factors. Multiple members of RAB (Ras-related protein in brain) – protein family have been found out to be part of the machinery of the exosome secretion. The RAB family members are small GTPase proteins. The role of these small GTPase proteins in exosome secretion is the movement of multivesicular body to the plasma membrane. (Stenmark. 2009)

When the multivesicular body and the plasma membrane are in touch, soluble NSF attachment protein receptor complexes (SNAREs) take over the fusion of MVB with plasma membrane

(Zylbersztejn and Galli. 2011). For fusion at least SNAP-23 (Castle, et al. 2002), VAMP-7 (Hirashima. 2000) and VAMP 8 are needed (Luzio, et al. 2005). Fusion process is also Ca^{2+} regulated in the case of secretory lysosomes. All the MVB secretion is not, however, regulated by SNAREs.

1.1.5. Biogenesis of microvesicles

Another type of extracellular vesicles are microvesicles. Microvesicles form via direct budding from cell membrane (Figure 2). Microvesicles are also called as ectosomes (Stein and Luzio. 1991) and microparticles (Mackman. 2009) in literature. Recognition between exosomes and microvesicles is difficult because size ranges of these two type of vesicles partially overlap. In many cases their complete separation is just impossible.

Microvesicles are associated with the cell apoptosis. Budding of microvesicles is a multistep process which starts with certain stimulus like cell stress. This leads to increase of calcium concentration in cytosol followed by enzymatic activity of calpains, gelsolins, scramblases and kinases. The activation of above-mentioned enzymes causes inhibition of translocases and phosphatases. This finally enables formation of microvesicle via alterations in cytoskeleton. The fact that platelets are able to produce microvesicles after inhibition of calpain shows that also other pathways exist for microvesicle formation. (Wiedmer and Sims. 1991, VanWijk, et al. 2003)

Structure of the plasma membrane is closely linked to biogenesis of microvesicles Aminophosphotranslocases regulate the structure of the cell membrane. Function of aminophospotrans-locases is to transfer phospholipids from one side to another of the cell membrane which consists of bilipid layer. Transfer of phosphatidylserine to the outer leaflet of cell membrane promotes budding of microvesicles (Hugel, et al. 2005)

Another factor that affects the structure of the plasma membrane and consequently to the microvesicle formation is distribution of phosphatidylenolamine between inner and outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. It has been found out that the phosphatidylenolamine –translocase (TAT-5) regulates secretion of extracellular vesicles in the study performed using *Caenorhabtidis elegans*. In normal state phosphatidylenolamine is unevenly distributed between outer and inner leaflet of plasma membrane so that only few phosphatidylenolamine exists at outer leaflet. In TAT-5 mutants phosphatidylenolamine is transferred to the outer leaflet which enables attachment of endosomal

sorting complexes to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. This makes microvesicle formation possible. (Tuck. 2011)

Contraction of cytoskeleton, which consists of actin and myosin, is the final step that is needed to the microvesicle budding. This is due to that ARF6-GTP (ADP ribosylation factor 6 that binds GTP) activates phospholipase D. After that ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinase) attaches to plasma membrane. ERK phosphorylates MLCK (Myosin light chain kinase). Phosphorylation activates MLCK, which leads to phosphorylation of the light chain of myosin. (Muralidharan-Chari, et al. 2009)



Figure 2. Microvesicles are 50 - 1000 nm -sized plasma membrane bubbles which are formed via direct budding from the cell surface.

1.2. ROLE OF EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

1.2.1. Extracellular vesicles – multitools of cells

Both exosomes and microvesicles have been thought to be part of intercellular communication because they transfer biomolecules between cells. Extracellular vesicles are necessary for the functions of multicellular species. They play a big role in intercellular communication by sending messages to other cells in the shape of transmembrane receptors, mRNAs, miRNAs, proteins and signaling molecules which are carried to target cells wrapped in tiny cell membrane envelopes. This communication is a way of manipulation the extracellular environment.

Recent study points out interestingly that exosomes and microvesicles differ in their ability to transfer information between cells. The study which was performed using transiently transfected cells showed that reported proteins and mRNA were successfully sealed in both types of vesicles but only microvesicles managed to convey reporter function to target cells.(Kanada, et al. 2015) It may still be too early to make too radical conclusion about different abilities of these two types of extracellular vesicles.

Another study shows that exosomes derived from breast cancer carcinoma cell cultures are able to increase cell movement. This study compared the effects of three breast cancer cell lines with different metastatic potential and showed that increase of the cell movement correlated with the metastatic potential of donor cells. Exosomes have been found to have unique protein signatures depending from which cell they originate.(Harris, et al. 2015)

1.2.2. Potential of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers

Liquid biopsy is currently being developed alongside traditional biopsy which means taking of piece of tissue from patient. Liquid biopsy, in turn, is much easier to obtain from the patient because it can be taken from body fluids, especially, if tumor exists deep in the body. In short, the principle of liquid biopsy is that biomarkers are observed from the sample. Extracellular vesicles, which are present in every bodily fluid and secreted from every cell type are very potential biomarkers in liquid biopsies. This kind of liquid biopsy could be taken from blood or urine so the invasiveness of sampling is very low if it exists at all. Real-time monitoring is also possible by liquid biopsies.

Utilization of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers for screening of several diseases have been studied for years. Exosomes and microvesicles have same features as their parent cells such as same surface receptors. RNA and protein content of EVs is also dependent on the original cell type. Possibilities of using extracellular vesicles as diagnostic tools are great. Screening of abundance and content of extracellular vesicles may bring out useful information about diseases which are not yet observed. They can also be used as tools for monitoring progression of diseases which have been already diagnosed.

1.2.3. Using of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers for cancer

There is more and more information about importance of interaction between cancer cells and their environment to development of tumors. Cancer cells manipulate surrounding cell types to enable penetration and growth. Extracellular vesicles have been found to play a key role in this interaction. Especially exosomes act as messengers which carry biomolecules between cells. Tumor-derived exosomes has been found out to interact with tumor environment for example by promoting angiogenesis, stimulating the cell movement and evading immune system. (Clayton, et al. 2007, Skog, et al. 2008b, Harris, et al. 2015)

It can be easily thought that these extracellular vesicles transport messages only to cells nearby. Extracellular vesicles carry out also long-distance communication. (Kadiu, et al. 2012) These tiny shuttles have often been observed to contain tumor antigens indicating that they are originated from the tumor. Nowadays, it is generally known that extracellular vesicles can transfer mRNA and proteins in functional form between cells, which advocates their importance to tumor development. Protein p53 is an important regulator of cell cycle, closely associated to cancer development and has been found out to regulate amount of TSAP6 which increases secretion of exosomes. (Yu, et al. 2006)

In light of the considerations set out above it is not surprising that the use of extracellular vesicles as biomarkers for cancer is studied extensively. Various approaches to utilize extracellular vesicles, especially exosomes, as biomarkers have been carried out and promising results have been obtained. Until now possibly applicable biomarkers have been detected related to several common cancers as lung cancer, prostate cancer, breast cancer and ovarian cancer. (Rabinowits, et al. 2009, Li, et al. 2009, Le, et al. 2014)

In 2008, Taylor et al. measured amount of eight different microRNAs and pointed out that exosomal microRNA can be used to recognize ovarian cancer. (Taylor and Gercel-Taylor. 2008) Next year Li et al. found out that those exosomes in peripheral circulation which contain claudin have a connection to ovarian cancer (Li, et al. 2009).

A few markers have been found from extracellular vesicles linked to prostate cancer. In 2009 Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) and Prostate-Specific Membrane Antigen (PSMA) were noticed to act as biomarkers for prostate cancer. (Mitchell, et al. 2009). Also increased levels of a protein called survivin in plasma exosomes were linked to prostate cancer (Khan, et al. 2012)

Additionally, a recent study (Melo, et al. 2015) suggests that glypican-1, a proteoglycan anchored to the membranes of circulating extracellular vesicles, could be utilized as a specific marker for pancreatic cancer.

Levels of exosomal RNA in blood may act as an indicator in screening of lung cancer. Remarkable differences between lung cancer patients and control group have been measured. Also similarity between tumor miRNA and exosomal RNA in blood samples in lung cancer patients were observed. (Rabinowits, et al. 2009)

Levels of microRNA 200 family members are increased in metastatic breast cancer cells. Metastatic potential also may be transferred from metastatic cells to non-metastatic cells via microRNA-200 – containing extracellular vesicles. (Le, et al. 2014)

1.3. HYALURONAN

First time hyaluronic acid was found in 1934 when Karl Meyer observed vitreous of bovine eye (Meyer, et al. 1934). This high molecular weight polysaccharide has since been found to exist all over our body in connective tissues. A high capacity to retain water is one of it's specific features. (Kogan, et al. 2007) In 1986 hyaluronic acid was given a name hyaluronan. This new name followed standardization of polysaccharide nomenclature. (Balazs, et al. 1986)

1.3.1. Structure and synthesis

In a nutshell, hyaluronan is a mucopolysaccharide which is synthesized by hyaluronan synthases and degraded by hyaluronidases. Hyaluronan is a linear glycosaminoglycan which consists of disaccharides D-glucuronic acid (GlcUA) and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) linked together by alternating β -1,4 and β -1,3 glycosidic bonds. Unlike other glycosaminoglycans, HA does not go through other chemical modification like sulfation or acetylation. (Weissmann and Meyer.) Synthesis of hyaluronan takes place at plasma membrane. HA is synthesised by three hyaluronan synthases, HAS1-3, in mammals.(Weigel and DeAngelis. 2007)

1.3.2. General role of hyaluronan

Otherwise than originally thought hyaluronan is not only the space-filler althought it is the main component of extracellular matrix. Several other roles has been associated with hyaluronan molecule. Maintaining the homeostasis is important role of hyaluronan. It has been found out to be key player in wound healing (Aya and Stern. 2014). Hyaluronan has also multiple ways to regulate inflammation, which is important part in cancer development. It has been also linked to morphogenetic processes which means that HA regulates development. HA has an effect in angiogenesis, skeleton development, chondrogenesis and cell proliferation.(Tammi, et al. 2002) Hyaluronan should not be thought only unambiguous molecule. The molecular weight of hyaluronan seem to be important factor in regulating the effects of hyaluronan.(Cowman, et al. 2015)

1.3.3. Hyaluronan, extracellular vesicles and cancer

According to a recent finding, hyaluronan is associated with enhanced microvesicle production in cell cultures. (Rilla, et al. 2013)This suggests that plasma membrane shedding of the vesicles carrying hyaluronan on their surface could enable the horizontal transfer of hyaluronan from tumor cells into the surrounding stroma and enhance tumor-stroma interactions. Additionally, the HA-coated EVs may offer both a potential therapeutic target and a diagnostic tool in cancers and other disease states with excess hyaluronan secretion.(Rilla, et al. 2014) Therefore, it is important to solve the mechanisms that regulate their shedding, to develop novel methods for their identification and clarify their functional effects on target cells. One of the main objectives of this study is to find answers to these questions.



Figure 3. Human melanoma cells (MV3) with inducible expression of GFP-HAS3. The left panel shows a group of cells without induction and right panel cells after induction of GFP-HAS3 expression. Note the increased number of EVs in HAS3-overexpressing cells (arrow). Green color shows GFP-HAS signal, red color CD44 immunostaining and blue color indicated nuclei (unpublished data by Kirsi Rilla).

1.4. ISOLATION OF EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

1.4.1. Challenges in vesicle isolation

Currently there is not only one proper protocol to isolate extracellular vesicles. One big reason for this is that EVs can be isolated from multiple different sample sources. Also amount of available sample material and other follow-up measurements affect the choice of the protocol.

When purification and isolation procedures are planned for extracellular vesicles, it's important to remember that there is not only one uniform type of vesicles. Each type of extracellular vesicles needs suitable isolation procedure. It may lead to large errors if this is not taken into account.

Once again problems in isolating extracellular vesicles is caused by their small size. List of commonly used isolation methods includes ultracentrifugation with/without a sucrose gradient, ultrafiltration, size exclusion chromatography, affinity capture of magnetic/non-magnetic beads and polymer based precipitation.

In a recent study performed by Jae-Jun Ban et al. attention has been paid to impact of pH to yield of exosome isolation. Interest underlying in the background for this study were the effect of changes of pH in some diseases as cancer and Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. In cancer low pH has been closely linked in the metastasis and progression of cancer. Exosomes have also been found to have a hand in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease progression. Differences in exosomal protein and RNA yields turned out to be remarkably high. Levels of total exosomal protein and RNA were measured in medium with three different pHs which were 4, 7 and 11. Acidic medium gave the best result. The second best result was obtained with neutral conditions and the lowest yield, in turn, was due to alkaline pH. In the light of the results is not in vain to draw attention to pH in exosome studies from now. (Ban, et al. 2015)

As mentioned before, the isolation method of extracellular vesicles depends on the type of vesicles to be isolated. A sample type is another major issue that should be noted. Each sample type has its own specific requirements to achieve the desired outcome. Sample types can be roughly divided into two major classes: Extracellular vesicles isolated form cell culture media and extracellular vesicles isolated from body fluids. Both of these fluid types have their own possible sources of error.

When extracellular vesicles are isolated from cell cultures it should be kept in mind that supplements which are added to the cell cultures may function as artificial EV sources. Especially fetal bovine serum (FBS) contains vesicles that may cause incorrect observations. Filtering and ultracentrifugation for 18 h at 100 000 x g or greater are used to remove these vesicles. Shorter ultracentrifugation step won't remove all the vesicles.(Shelke, et al. 2014) In addition to used supplements one source of error is culture media itself. Even fresh culture media includes particles of the same size range as the extracellular vesicles. There is different amounts of these particles in media from different manufacturers. Number of these particles alters during storage and those media which are stored in 4 °C have less background than those which are stored in room temperature. The cell line used also influences the choice of best protocol. (Jeppesen, et al. 2014)

When extracellular vesicles are isolated from body fluids the complexity of samples is a challenge. Body fluids contain lipoproteins, DNA, RNA, protein aggregates, microbes and platelets which may cause problems in isolation. (Szatanek, et al. 2015)

Platelet-derived extracellular vesicles are the only group of EVs that has accurately determined instructions for storage and isolation. The fresher the better may be a consensus for getting the best

yield of extracellular vesicles. Storing temperature and number of freezing and thawing cycles are critical factores affecting the quality of the samples.

1.4.2. Ultracentrifugation

Ultracentrifugation is the most common method to isolate extracellular vesicles. In ultracentrifugation particles are separated based on their size and density so that larger and more dense particles travel farther from a central axis.(Beams, et al. 1933).

Nowadays the most widely used method for extracellular vesicle isolation is differential/ ultracentrifugation. (Witwer, et al. 2013) The main guidelines for this method has been introduced in study performed by Raposo et al. but there is variations depending on different laboratories and studied cell lines. In the study of Raposo et al. exosomes were purified from the conditioned media of transformed human b cell lines. Although used centrifugation speed depends on studied extracellular vesicles and cell lines, mainly the following speeds are used: $300 \times g$ to remove cells, $2000 \times g$ to remove dead cells and apoptotic bodies, $10\ 000\ -\ 20\ 000\ \times g$ to isolate microvesicles and remove cell debris, $100\ 000\ -\ 200\ 000\ \times g\ -\ 20\ 000\ \times g$ is enough. Too high centrifugal forces will lead to vesicle degradation and fusion. (van der Pol, et al. 2012) Between each centrifugation step supernatant is collected to a new test tube. It is important to validate the centrifugation process according to which size of particles are wanted to be isolated. This will maximize the purity and yield. Common in used procedures is that centrifugation steps are performed in 4°C except plasma samples. If plasma samples are handled in 4°C, plateled EVs are formed which are interfering further processing.(Szatanek, et al. 2015)

There is a variation of differential/ultracentrifugation step which uses additional sucrose gradient/cushion step. Reason for using this step is to prevent possibly non-specific proteins to end up to EV samples. In this step the sample is loaded into tube containing Tris/sucrose/D₂O and centrifuged at least 75 minutes at 75 000 x g followed by collection of fraction which density is 1.13 - 1.19 g/ml. This fraction is centrifuged again at 100 000 x g after dilution with PBS. (Escola, et al. 1998, Thery, et al. 2006)

There is multiple problems which should be noted when using ultracentrifugation. Cargo of vesicles affects their density so that it is not possible to make strict size separation. Ultracentrifugation is also time consuming because it is quite slow when the number of samples is

high. Need for high sample volumes causes that it is not able to use with all clinical samples and other samples with small volume. Some vesicles may break down when they are put to ultracentrifuge with high velocity. Also many contaminants may be pelleted with ultracentrifuge. (Peterson, et al. 2015)

1.4.3. Size exclusion chromatography

In size exclusion chromatography particles will be separated depending on their size. Particles with different sizes have different abilities to go through stationary phase of size exclusion column i.e. elution speed is different. (Boing, et al. 2014) Normally low-speed centrifugation and filtration is done to samples before chromatography. (Muller, et al. 2014) Centrifugation removes large particles and filtration concentrates the sample. As the other methods also size exclusion chromatography has its own disadvantages. Too high force in filtering EVs may make structural changes to vesicles. Also selection of proper chromatography column should be carried out carefully. (Witwer, et al. 2013)

1.4.4. Ultrafiltration (UF)

In ultrafiltration the sample is filtered through a semipermeable membrane. This method is often combined with other isolation methods like ultracentrifugation and size exclusion chromatography (Lamparski, et al. 2002, Nordin, et al. 2015). It can be also used without combination with other methods, resulting in higher purity of the samples as compared to other methods. Main problems associated with ultrafiltration techniques are clogging and shear stress which may lead to unwanted changes in the properties like morphology of the extracellular vesicles.

1.4.5. Immuno-affinity purification

Immunoaffinity isolation is a technique which utilizes the information about proteins on the surface of extracellular vesicles. The fact that extracellular vesicles resemble their parent cells is very useful for this technique. By selecting the correct antibodies the desired vesicles can be distinguished from other material. Depending on the approach immunoaffinity isolation can be used to remove unwanted vesicles from the sample or to enrich wanted vesicles. Advantage of immunoaffinity isolation is that in this method the isolation of extracellular vesicles is based on marker expression on their surface rather than their diameter.

Used antibodies are attached for example to matrix or magnetic/non-magnetic microbeads. These microbeads are coated with specific antibody which is planned to attach to selected markers on the surface of EVs. (Tauro, et al. 2012) Another type of microbeads are surfactant free latex beads, usually made of polystyrene.(Fitzner, et al. 2011)

One method that is based on immunoaffinity uses synthetic peptide called venceremin to isolate extracellular vesicles from cell cultures and biologic fluids. Venceremin has a specific affinity to heat-shock proteins which have been associated to extracellular vesicles. This method needs a prepurification step to remove cell debris and it is usually performed by centrifugation or filtering with 0,22 μ m filter. (Ghosh, et al. 2014).

1.4.6. Acoustic purification

One of the newest innovations is an acoustic nanofiltration system. Acoustic purification of extracellular vesicles uses ultrasound waves to separate particles with different sizes from other components of biological sample. Size of wanted particles can be chosen electrically by adjusting acoustic power and flow speed of sample. Mechanical properties like size, density and compressibility of vesicles are the factors that affect how much force they experience. (Lee, et al. 2015)

Advantages of acoustic purification compared to older techniques are that it uses smaller sample volumes and it's also inexpensive and faster. Either this technique doesn't require labeling of samples. Also it may have a smaller sample loss than for example ultracentrifugation or ultrafiltration. (Lee, et al. 2015)

1.4.7. Microfluidic isolation

Compared to developing microfluidic isolation, traditional techniques like ultracentrifugation are less accurate resulting in weaker purity. It could be said that these older methods are only directed to concentration of extracellular vesicles but not for isolating them. Purity of EV samples is important especially when samples are intended to be used in biomarker studies. Higher purity may increase the accuracy of testing of diseases. In addition that ultracentrifugation is not so accurate it is also time consuming. Ultracentrifugation takes time from 2- 10 hours. Using of magnetic beads with antibody coating purity is higher compared to ultracentrifugation. Also yield of extracellular vesicles is higher. One problem with magnetic beads is that they don't work to other vesicles than those which contain the protein of interest which leads to lack of detection of other potentially present vesicles. This naturally distort the results.(Liga, et al. 2015)

1.4.8. Hydrostatic dialysis

Another new technique, which utilizes hydrostatic dialysis, is developed to isolate extracellular vesicles from urine. Urine samples are centrifuged first at 2000 x g to remove impurities as bacteria and cell debris. After that liquid sample is filtered with 1000 kDa dialysis membrane using hydrostatic pressure. Advantages of this method are that smaller space is required to storage samples and ultracentrifugation is not needed. (Musante, et al. 2014)

1.4.9. Commercial isolation kits

Nowadays there are also commercially available exosome isolation kits like Exoquick[™] (System Biosciences), Exo-spin (Cell Quidance Systems), Total Exosome Isolation[™] (Life Technologies) which are relatively easy and inexpensive to use. Common to these kits are that high-velocity ultracentrifugation is not needed but such as traditional ultracentrifugation, use of these kits is also time consuming because in majority over-night incubation is needed. Disadvantage of commercial kits occurs also in purity of samples which remains below the level of for example OptoPrep density gradient centrifugation.

1.5. DETECTION METHODS OF MICROPARTICLES

1.5.1. Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry is the most common method for analysis of extracellular vesicles in blood in clinical use. Small size of extracellular vesicles causes problems with accuracy of flow cytometry.

Size of extracellular vesicles compared to human cells varies from $1/200^{\text{th}}$ to $1/10^{\text{th}}$ part. (Inglis, et al. 2015) Lower limit of detection range in most used flow cytometers is 500 nm. (Minciacchi, et al. 2015)

One problem of this method is a difficult detection of false positive events. Main reasons for this are that extracellular vesicles express a relatively low number of antigens, which makes the detection difficult and the background noise may be high because of challenges in washing steps after staining. Some optimization techniques for use of flow cytometry in identification of extracellular vesicles exists. (Inglis, et al. 2015) Study which was performed in 2012 pointed out that nano-sized particles can be quantified precisely. (van der Vlist, et al. 2012) Using of antibody-coated beads that are bigger than exosomes enables counting of small extracellular vesicles. (Lasser, et al. 2012)

1.5.2. Dynamic light scattering

Dynamic light scattering, also called photon correlation spectroscopy and quasi elastic light scattering is a technique which utilizes brownian motion to measure the size distribution of particles. Measured particles can be from under 1 nm to 10 μ m in diameter.

1.5.3. Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)

Nanoparticle tracking analysis is a frequently used method to study extracellular vesicles. In this technique scattered light from the measured particles is captured and computer software calculates absolute size distribution using brownian motion. Mean squared velocity of vesicles brownian motion is determined by tracking and it is used to estimate the diameter of the particle. Size range of detected particles ranges from 50 nm to $1\mu m$ in diameter. Though quantitative analysis can't be done to particles larger than 400 nm. (Filipe, et al. 2010)

1.5.4. (Tunable) Resistive pulse sensing

In this technique the size distribution of particles in liquid sample is measured by detecting resistance changes when particles go through a small pore. Compared to dynamic light scattering and nanoparticle tracking analysis this technique is more accurate because it gives absolute size distribution. It is so called particle by particle analysis. Size of detectable particles can be from 50

nm to 10 μ m. Upper limit is cause of pore size and lower limit is the smallest resistance limit that can be detected. This smallest detectable particle size is about 20% of pore size. One quite high problem with this technique is that particles may clog the pore especially when sample is unknown and if particles clot easily. So careful sample preparation like elimination of big objects by filtering is needed. (Anderson, et al. 2015)

1.5.5. Molecular composition

Molecular composition of extracellular vesicles is a widely used method to study the properties of extracellular vesicles. Methods for revealing molecular composition are for example western blotting, peptide mass mapping or immuno-EM.

Different extracellular vesicles can be identified in the basis of their molecular composition. For example exosomes have many lipids and proteins typical specifically for exosomes. At least GTPases, Annexins, flotillins, several tetraspanins (CD9, CD62, CD 63, CD81 and CD82), HSC 70, HSC 90, ALIX, TSG 101, lipid-related proteins, phospholipases and many other markers can be used to detection of exosomes. (Simpson, et al. 2008, Conde-Vancells, et al. 2008, Vlassov, et al. 2012)

1.6. MICROSCOPIC METHODS TO STUDY EVS/ IMAGING OF EVS

Because extracellular vesicles are nano-sized particles, their visualization requires the resolution of e.g. electron microscopy or atomic force microscopy. However the largest EVs can be also imaged with confocal microscopy.

1.6.1. Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy is a specialized technique of light microscopy and it has been used to visualize extracellular vesicles for years. Use of confocal microscopy requires staining of the sample with fluorescent markers. It should be remembered that the properties of visible light sets limitations to use of confocal microscopy in extracellular vesicle research. Wavelenght of visible light, properties of sample and restrictions of microscope optics result in the maximum resolution of about 200 nm in confocal microscopy. Resolution means the minimum distance by which two

objects can be detected from each other. (Lodish, et al. 2008) Size of exosomes varies between 40-120 nm. It is therefore natural that the precise structural information about the extracellular vesicles can not be obtained with light microscopy. Using confocal microscopy is however possible to get images of movements of cell surface which is useful when the moment of vesicle budding is wanted to be studied.

1.6.2. Transmission electron microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) allows better resolution than confocal microscopy. It is important because of the small size of extracellular vesicles. In transmission electron microscopy, electrons are accelelerated with high voltage and electron beam is then shoot through the sample. Advantage of transmission electron microscopy compared to light microscopy is that the wavelength of light is not limiting. Resolution obtained with TEM can easily be less than 1nm. Transmission electron microscopy is for this reason suitable method for studying structural properties of extracellular vesicles(van der Pol, et al. 2010)

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Existence of extracellular vesicles has been known for decades but the interest in extracellular vesicles has grown exponentially during last fifteen years which can be seen as the increased amount of publications dealing with the topic. Aim of this master's thesis is to gather together up to date information about nomenclature, biogenesis, secretion and properties of extracellular vesicles. Thesis will also shed a light on how these vesicles could be utilized as biomarkers for cancer. Also the role glycosaminoglycan called hyaluronan in the field of extracellular vesicles is discussed in brief. Towards to end of the text existing isolation techniques and the available detection methods for extracellular vesicles will be discussed. Final goal of literature review of this thesis is to make an entity that combines importance of the extracellular vesicles and hyaluronan in cancer environment and development.

The aim of the methodological part of this study was to develop and test microscopic methods for characterization of EVs from different sources by utilizing transmission electron microscopy and live cell confocal microscopy. Another aim is to set up and test the methods to study the effect of melanoma-derived EVs on the migration and invasion rate of target cells. These methods will be further developed and utilized in future studies of hyaluronan-induced EVs, their regulation, shedding and uptake mechanisms and effects on target cell functions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Cell culture

In this thesis following cell lines were used: Stable inducible EGFP-HAS3-MV3 melanoma cell line and human fibroblasts. Culture medium used for both cell lines was Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Media (DMEM, EuroClone, Pavia, Italy) with high glucose added with 10% Fetal bovine serum, 1% L- glutamine and 1% penicillin. In the case of MV3-HAS-3 (D/S) also hygromycin B was added to the culture medium.

Human mesenchymal stem cells described before in (Qu et al 2014) were cultured in MEM- α (HyClone, South Logan, UT, OSA) supplemented with 10 % FBS, (FBS, fetal bovine serum,

HyClone), 25 µg/ml streptomycin (EuroClone, Milano, Italia) and 25 U/ml penicillin (EuroClone), 10 ng/ml of bFGF (fibroblast growth factor) and 25 µg/ml of vitamin C (Sigma).

3.2. Isolation of EVs by ultracentrifugation

Extracellular vesicles were isolated from MV3-HAS-3 melanoma cells. 1,5 million cells were seed to 8 x 10 cm dishes and when cells were attached to bottom, culture medium was replaced with vesicle-free medium. Just after changing of culture medium, doxycyclin (0,25 mg/ml) were added to the half of cell culture dishes and incubated for 48 hours.

Media from culture dishes were collected to the 15 ml falcon tube and centrifuged 1200 x g 20 min in 4°C. (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5810 Rotor F-34-6-38) Supernatant was then transferred to ultracentrifuge tubes and ultracentrifuged 110 000 x g 90 min. (Sorval Ultracentrifuge, DuPont) OTD Combi, rotor T865-1). After ultracentrifugation supernatants were removed and vesicles were dissolved to 100 μ l DMEM high glucose (no additions)/tube. Vesicle samples were stored in eppendorf tubes -80 °C.

3.3. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

EV specimens used for transmission electron microscopy analysis were originally isolated from cultured GFP-HAS3 overexpressing MDCK cells, human mesenchymal stem cells, human ascites fluid and human synovial fluid. The thawed EV preparations were layered onto carbon coated and glow discharged copper grids. Thereafter, specimens were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde for 10 min. Next the samples were contrasted using 2% neutral uranyl acetate for 10-15 min in dark and embedded in 1,8% methyl cellulose (25 Ctp)/ 0,4% UA. Transmission electron microscopy was performed using JEOL JEM 2100F transmission electron microscope (Jeol Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) operated at 200 kV. Used magnifications varied from 4000-fold to 150 000-fold.

3.4. Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy was performed with a Zeiss Axio Observer inverted microscope (40 x NA 1.3–objective) equipped with Zeiss LSM 700 confocal module (Carl Zeiss Microimaging GmbH, Jena, Germany). For live cell imaging, Zeiss XL-LSM S1 incubator with temperature and CO2

control was utilized. ZEN 2009 software (Carl Zeiss Microimaging GmbH) was used for image processing, and 3D rendering.

For visualization of hyaluronan coat on live stem cells, a fluorescent group (Alexa Fluor 594) was directly coupled to HA binding complex (HABC) that has been isolated from bovine articular cartilage like described before (Rilla, et al. 2008) Before time lapse confocal imaging, live cell cultures grown on chambered coverglasses (Ibidi GmbH, Martinsried, Germany) were incubated for 30 min at 37°C with fluorescent HABC (5 μ g/ml) diluted in culture medium.

For labeling of plasma membrane of live human stem cells, Deep Mask plasma membrane stain (1:4000, Invitrogen, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK) was used. The imaging was initiated immediately after addition of the stain.

3.5. Migration assay

Migration was studied by traditional scratch wound healing assay. For this assay 70 000 – 80 000 fibroblasts were seeded in 12 wells in 24-well plates (see table below). After 48 hours incubation in 37 °C wounds were scraped using a 200 μ l pipette tip. After wounding the wells were washed once with 1 x PBS to remove cell debris.

Treatments t	o migration	assay:

Wells 1-4:	Wells 5-8	Wells 9-12
300 µl	300 µl	300 µl
1:4 DMEM high glucose (no	1:4 Vesicles from DOX- MVs in	1:4 Vesicles from DOX+ MVs in
additions) to DMEM(1% FBS,	DMEM high glucose (no	DMEM high glucose (no
1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine)	additions) to (1% FBS, 1% P/S,	additions) to (1% FBS, 1% P/S,
	1% L-glutamine)	1% L-glutamine)

The wells were imaged using Nikon DS-L1-5M attached to light microscope in time points 0, 6, 16 and 24 hours.

3.6. Invasion assay

For invasion assay 55 000 cells were seeded onto 6 wells of a 8-well chamber slide (Ibidi GmbH, Martinsried, Germany). After 24 hours when wells were confluent the medium was removed and 150 μ l of DMEM high glucose (1% FBS, 1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine) was pipetted to all six wells. For wells 1 and 2, 50 μ l of DMEM high glucose (no additions) was added for control, for wells 3 and 4 50 μ l of vesicle suspension from MV3-HAS3 dox - cells and for wells 5 and 6 50 μ l of vesicle suspension from MV3-HAS3 dox - cells and for wells 5 and 6 50 μ l of basement membrane extract gel (Cultrex, Trevigen Inc., Gaithensburg, MD) was added on the top of the monolayer.

After 24 hour incubation, the cell cultures were fixed the actin cytoskeleton of the cells were stained with AlexaFluor 594-labeled phalloidin (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) to visualize the invaded cells in the gel. Next the cell cultures were imaged with confocal microscope. Side views created from stacks of optical sections were used to estimate the invasion area covered by the cells.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1. Transmission electron microscopy

Relatively low amounts of extracellular vesicles were found in all TEM samples. Most of the vesicles were individual, but also some clustered vesicles were found. Also variable morphology of vesicles was seen in all samples. Some of the vesicles were electron dense, while some vesicles appeared very light. Many vesicles had a typical concave shaped morphology, some appeared rounded. The size distribution also varied. In cell culture samples the size range was from 30 nm to 500 nm (**Figure 4**), and in human fluids from 50 nm to 1000 nm (**Figure 5**). We used glow discharge treated grids to strengthen the vesicle attachment to the grids, which improved the results (**Figure 4D**), but also increased the amount of impurities on the grids.



Figure 4. Transmission electron microscopy of EV preparations purified from different cell cultures. A) GFP-HAS3 overexpressing MDCK cells, B) GFP-HAS3 overexpressing MV3 cells C) Human mesenchymal stem cells D) Human mesenchymal stem cells with Glow Discharged grid



Figure 5. Transmission electron microscopy of EV preparations purified from human biological fluids. A) human synovial fluid and B) human ascites fluid.

4.2. Live cell confocal microscopy

Live cell imaging was utilized to visualize the shedding of EVs in cultured live human mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Mask plasma membrane marker visualized the plasma membrane clearly, and time lapse series of images (**Figure 6**) showed shedding of vesicles of different size derived from the plasma membrane of cells (**arrows in Figure 6**).

To detect the hyaluronan coat and possible shedding of hyaluronan-coated vesicles from hMSCs, a fluorescently labeled hyaluronan binding probe that detects specifically hyaluronan in live cells was utilized. hMSCs were surrounded by a thick and intensive hyaluronan coat as an indication of active hyaluronan secretion. Additionally, plenty of hyaluronan-positive vesicles were detected around the cells (**arrows in Figure 7**). Many of the vesicles were attached to the plastic substratum, and were immobile (**white arrows in Figure 7**), while some vesicle movements were detected (**yellow arrows in Figure 7**), which suggests active secretion of EVs that carry hyaluronan coat on their membranes.



Figure 6. Time lapse images of a hMSC cell labelled with CellMask plasma membrane marker (green). Horizontal 3D projections created from a stack of optical sections are shown at each time point.



Figure 7. Hyaluronan coat and hyaluronan-positive EVs visualized by fluorescently labeled hyaluronan-binding probe (fHABC, red). Nucleus is stained with DNA-binding label DRAQ5 (blue). Horizontal 3D projections created from a stack of optical sections are shown at each time point.

4.3. Migration assay

Human fibroblasts spread evenly through the wound during 24 hour observation time (**Figure 8**), resulting in the closure of the wounded area. However, there were no detectable differences between control group and EV treatments in migration efficiency of human fibroblasts (**Figure 9**). Mean migration speed of human fibroblasts was about 25 μ m per hour.



Figure 8. Phase contrast microscopic images of migration assays with human fibroblasts. Panels show examples of control cells in different time points after scratch wounding of the cultures (0, 6, 16 and 24 hours). Magnification bar 500 μm.



Figure 9. Migration assay. A) Effect of EVs derived from MV3 cells expressing GFP-HAS3 on the migration speed of human fibroblasts. Error bars indicate standard deviation (SD) of three independent experiments with three parallel samples in each experiment. B) Effect of EVs derived from MV3 cells expressing GFP-HAS3 on the speed (%) of wound closure of human fibroblasts.

4.4. Invasion assay

Invasion of fibroblasts in 3D gel was imaged with confocal microscope (**Figure 10**). Invasion efficiency was higher in fibroblasts treated with extracellular vesicles isolated from MV3-HAS3– cells than the control group (**Figure 11**). No difference between extracellular vesicles isolated from doxycycline induced MV3-HAS3–cells and non-induced MV3-HAS3 (D/S) –cells were found.



Figure 10. Invasion assay. Fibroblast cultures grown under a Cultrex 3D gel. Panels show side views of 3D projections, created from stacks of confocal optical sections. A) Control cells without additions, B) cells after addition of EVs originating from GFP-HAS3-MV3 cells without doxycycline induction and C) after doxycycline induction.



Figure 11. Effect of EVs on invasion of human fibroblasts. Invasion efficiency of fibroblasts in cultrex 3D gel was determined from three groups. Control group was given DMEM. EV DOX-group was given extracellular vesicles isolated from not induced MV3-HAS3 (D/S) cells and EV DOX + was given extracellular vesicles isolated from doxycycline induced MV3-HAS3 (D/S) cells. Error bars indicate range of duplicate samples.

4. **DISCUSSION**

Extracellular vesicles seem to be everywhere and to be associated with almost all or all processes in the human body. The research field of extracellular vesicles is therefore exciting and full of possibilities. Research of extracellular vesicles is also full of pitfalls. It may sound exaggerative but almost everything could be done more precisely when studying extracellular vesicles. Isolation and analyzing procedures need to be standardized, terms could be more consistent, research equipment are still in its infancy and also researchers should be more patient when they are doing conclusions based on obtained results. Otherwise in the beginning of new type of research it could be useful to test all the possible ways to study the topic and then determine which way is the best.

It is somehow interesting that when you think that you have learned something about for example exosome biogenesis that "fact" is invalidated in the next sentence. In turn, this all uncertainty inspires to questionate everything and keeps researchers alert when they analyze results from their own and other researchers' studies. Being too sceptical may slow the research too much so it's quite important to found a suitable compromise.

The explosive growth of the discipline has brough a multiple new techniques with it. The most of these new equipment like particle size analyzators and isolation kits for EVs need still more development before they are working absolutely reliably. In some cases the problem is in the inexperienced user and, in turn, in the equipment. For example it is quite hard to separate extracellular vesicles from other same sized particles in the sample with particle size analyzators.

Somehow it may be difficult to understand that different types of EVs – exosomes and microvesicles – may look similar at first glance but they represent totally different entireties. Different type of biogenesis and cargo advocates the view that these vesicles should be separated when research is performed. Partly overlapping size distribution and otherwise similar characteristics of exosomes and microvesicles make this task hard to fulfill. Although idea of separating these two types of EVs to entirely separated entities may sound rational, it should be remembered that these two types of vesicles are actually at the same time and place. Maybe they will work together in order to achieve the desired result?

International society of extracellular vesicles (ISEV) has done much to promote these topics. One example is the setting of basic quidelines for isolation and analysis of extracellular vesicles(Lötvall, et al. 2014).

In the future the extracellular vesicles will pretty sure be powerful tools to research, analytics and treatment of multiple diseases. When the EVs has been harnessed to the use of disease screening it will be possible to recognize pathological conditions much earlier than nowadays. For example in cancer analytics it may be critical if we think survival rate. It's a fascinating thought that development of liquid biopsy may allow easy way to screen development of diseases which cannot be detected with traditional techniques at early stage. The threshold for taking liquid biopsy is also lower because it does not require such invasive operation as traditional biopsy. For example in some cases urine sample is enough and it's also easier to give blood sample than biopsy which needs surgical procedure.

In the practical part of this master's thesis the aim was to study properties of extracellular vesicles using microscopic methods and invasion and migration assays.

Although it may seem pointless to focus to the culturing of cells, culturing conditions of cells are certainly a key factor in the case of secretion of extracellular vesicles. It is easy to think that culturing conditions are equal if the protocol is followed but there is a number of "microchanges" which should be taken into account like the temperature and age of used media and additions. Also pH of cell culture may be good to be monitored.

Vesicle isolation using ultracentrifugation is quite challenging technique from the perspective that the pellet of vesicles is not visible. For more accurate studies the presence of wanted extracellular vesicles should be determined from every isolation batch. This determination could be done for example with transmission electron microscopy. Also the counting of the numbers of existing extracellular vesicles is important for further analyses. Without these measurements the result of these studies are rather preliminary results than accurate results. Different variations of centrifugation /ultracentrifugation speeds should be tested systematically to be sure which results in best outcome. Especially if for example the effects of only microvesicles or exosomes are wanted to be tested. Also this will help to reach the best yield of extracellular vesicles overall.

Live cell imaging with the confocal microscopy was performed to visualize the moment of budding of extracellular vesicle. Imaging of extracellular vesicles with confocal microscopy was done by staining of cell membrane with plasma membrane marker and hyaluronan binding probe. Small size of extracellular vesicles sets limits to the required resolution. In addition to the small size also relatively fast movement of EVs makes imaging difficult. Best resolution of z-stack image would be achieved with high number of pictures per stack and low imaging speed. However this is not possible to do because of movement of EVs. In the future developing imaging equipment will result in higher resolution and imaging speed will be higher. Slow imaging speed is mainly due to mechanical properties of confocal microscope.

Ultrastructural studies of extracellular vesicles were done succesfully. The bilipid layer and typical cup-shaped form of extracellular vesicles were visible in many cases. Also the size range of vesicles in images were as assumed. Although there were in some cases thick layer of surfactant especially at the border area of grids, imaging could be done without bigger problems. Also ripping of surface of grids made imaging more difficult in several cases. Using of Glow-Discharge treatment of grids increased the amount of captured vesicles but there were also high amount of other "trash". Anyway, in the future experiments, more concentrated EV preparations are required to catch a sufficient number of vesicles for reliable analysis.

In the invasion assay the major shortcoming may be the number of repeats which was only one. This was because of a tight deadline of assay. In the future, more repetition would be done for better reliability. Another shortcoming may be possible practical problems as light drying of cells in used Ibidi chamber slides were observed. This may has changed result especially in the case that the drying were not uniform in all wells. In the future comparing of different cell lines and culturing conditions may lead to better accuracy of results.

In the migration assay there were no significant changes between the control group and treatments. The growth rate of used fibroblast was so high in every group that possible differences between groups may not be detected because of that. On source of error is actually the use of fibroblast because they spread rapidly through the wound. They do not grow as a steadily moving wall. Thus the use of epithelial cells may give more accurate results in future experiments.

5. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Admyre C, Grunewald J, Thyberg J et al. Exosomes with major histocompatibility complex class II and co-stimulatory molecules are present in human BAL fluid. Eur.Respir.J. 2003;22:578-83.

Admyre C, Johansson SM, Qazi KR et al. Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk. J.Immunol. 2007;179:1969-78.

Anderson W, Lane R, Korbie D, Trau M. Observations of Tunable Resistive Pulse Sensing for Exosome Analysis: Improving System Sensitivity and Stability. Langmuir 2015;31:6577-87.

Andre F, Schartz NE, Movassagh M et al. Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes. Lancet 2002;360:295-305.

Aya KL, Stern R. Hyaluronan in wound healing: rediscovering a major player. Wound Repair Regen. 2014;22:579-93.

Balazs EA, Laurent TC, Jeanloz RW. Nomenclature of hyaluronic acid. Biochem.J. 1986;235:903.

Ban JJ, Lee M, Im W, Kim M. Low pH increases the yield of exosome isolation. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2015;461:76-9.

Beams JW, Weed AJ, Pickels EG. The Ultracentrifuge. Science 1933;78:338-40.

Bhatnagar S, Shinagawa K, Castellino FJ, Schorey JS. Exosomes released from macrophages infected with intracellular pathogens stimulate a proinflammatory response in vitro and in vivo. Blood 2007;110:3234-44.

Boing AN, van der Pol E, Grootemaat AE, Coumans FA, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Single-step isolation of extracellular vesicles by size-exclusion chromatography. J.Extracell Vesicles 2014;3:10.3402/jev.v3.23430. eCollection 2014.

Brody I, Ronquist G, Gottfries A. Ultrastructural localization of the prostasome - an organelle in human seminal plasma. Ups.J.Med.Sci. 1983;88:63-80.

Buschow SI, Liefhebber JM, Wubbolts R, Stoorvogel W. Exosomes contain ubiquitinated proteins. Blood Cells Mol.Dis. 2005;35:398-403. Caby MP, Lankar D, Vincendeau-Scherrer C, Raposo G, Bonnerot C. Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. Int.Immunol. 2005;17:879-87.

Castle JD, Guo Z, Liu L. Function of the t-SNARE SNAP-23 and secretory carrier membrane proteins (SCAMPs) in exocytosis in mast cells. Mol.Immunol. 2002;38:1337-40.

Chargaff E, West R. The biological significance of the thromboplastic protein of blood. J.Biol.Chem. 1946;166:189-97.

Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2. Cancer Res. 2007;67:7458-66.

Conde-Vancells J, Rodriguez-Suarez E, Embade N et al. Characterization and comprehensive proteome profiling of exosomes secreted by hepatocytes. J.Proteome Res. 2008;7:5157-66.

Cowman MK, Lee HG, Schwertfeger KL, McCarthy JB, Turley EA. The Content and Size of Hyaluronan in Biological Fluids and Tissues. Front.Immunol. 2015;6:261.

de Gassart A, Geminard C, Fevrier B, Raposo G, Vidal M. Lipid raft-associated protein sorting in exosomes. Blood 2003a;102:4336-44.

de Gassart A, Geminard C, Fevrier B, Raposo G, Vidal M. Lipid raft-associated protein sorting in exosomes. Blood 2003b;102:4336-44.

El Andaloussi S, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat.Rev.Drug Discov. 2013;12:347-57.

Escola JM, Kleijmeer MJ, Stoorvogel W, Griffith JM, Yoshie O, Geuze HJ. Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. J.Biol.Chem. 1998;273:20121-7.

Filipe V, Hawe A, Jiskoot W. Critical evaluation of Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA) by NanoSight for the measurement of nanoparticles and protein aggregates. Pharm.Res. 2010;27:796-810.

Fitzner D, Schnaars M, van Rossum D et al. Selective transfer of exosomes from oligodendrocytes to microglia by macropinocytosis. J.Cell.Sci. 2011;124:447-58.

Futter CE, Pearse A, Hewlett LJ, Hopkins CR. Multivesicular endosomes containing internalized EGF-EGF receptor complexes mature and then fuse directly with lysosomes. J.Cell Biol. 1996;132:1011-23.

Ghosh A, Davey M, Chute IC et al. Rapid isolation of extracellular vesicles from cell culture and biological fluids using a synthetic peptide with specific affinity for heat shock proteins. PLoS One 2014;9:e110443.

Greco V, Hannus M, Eaton S. Argosomes: a potential vehicle for the spread of morphogens through epithelia. Cell 2001;106:633-45.

Harding C, Heuser J, Stahl P. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of transferrin and recycling of the transferrin receptor in rat reticulocytes. J.Cell Biol. 1983;97:329-39.

Harrington MG, Fonteh AN, Oborina E et al. The morphology and biochemistry of nanostructures provide evidence for synthesis and signaling functions in human cerebrospinal fluid. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res. 2009;6:10,8454-6-10.

Harris DA, Patel SH, Gucek M, Hendrix A, Westbroek W, Taraska JW. Exosomes released from breast cancer carcinomas stimulate cell movement. PLoS One 2015;10:e0117495.

Hirashima N. Molecular mechanism of exocytosis in neural and immune system. Yakugaku Zasshi 2000;120:1419-27.

Holme PA, Solum NO, Brosstad F, Roger M, Abdelnoor M. Demonstration of platelet-derived microvesicles in blood from patients with activated coagulation and fibrinolysis using a filtration technique and western blotting. Thromb.Haemost. 1994;72:666-71.

Hugel B, Martinez MC, Kunzelmann C, Freyssinet JM. Membrane microparticles: two sides of the coin. Physiology (Bethesda) 2005;20:22-7.

Inglis HC, Danesh A, Shah A, Lacroix J, Spinella PC, Norris PJ. Techniques to improve detection and analysis of extracellular vesicles using flow cytometry. Cytometry A. 2015.

Irion U, St Johnston D. bicoid RNA localization requires specific binding of an endosomal sorting complex. Nature 2007;445:554-8.

Jeppesen DK, Hvam ML, Primdahl-Bengtson B et al. Comparative analysis of discrete exosome fractions obtained by differential centrifugation. J.Extracell Vesicles 2014;3:25011.

Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J.Biol.Chem. 1987;262:9412-20.

Kadiu I, Narayanasamy P, Dash PK, Zhang W, Gendelman HE. Biochemical and biologic characterization of exosomes and microvesicles as facilitators of HIV-1 infection in macrophages. J.Immunol. 2012;189:744-54.

Kanada M, Bachmann MH, Hardy JW et al. Differential fates of biomolecules delivered to target cells via extracellular vesicles. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 2015;112:E1433-42.

Karlsson M, Lundin S, Dahlgren U, Kahu H, Pettersson I, Telemo E. "Tolerosomes" are produced by intestinal epithelial cells. Eur.J.Immunol. 2001;31:2892-900.

Katzmann DJ, Babst M, Emr SD. Ubiquitin-dependent sorting into the multivesicular body pathway requires the function of a conserved endosomal protein sorting complex, ESCRT-I. Cell 2001;106:145-55.

Keller S, Rupp C, Stoeck A et al. CD24 is a marker of exosomes secreted into urine and amniotic fluid. Kidney Int. 2007;72:1095-102.

Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br.J.Cancer 1972;26:239-57.

Khan S, Jutzy JM, Valenzuela MM et al. Plasma-derived exosomal survivin, a plausible biomarker for early detection of prostate cancer. PLoS One 2012;7:e46737.

Kleijmeer M, Ramm G, Schuurhuis D et al. Reorganization of multivesicular bodies regulates MHC class II antigen presentation by dendritic cells. J.Cell Biol. 2001;155:53-63.

Kogan G, Soltes L, Stern R, Gemeiner P. Hyaluronic acid: a natural biopolymer with a broad range of biomedical and industrial applications. Biotechnol.Lett. 2007;29:17-25.

Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Matsuki Y, Ochiya T. Secretory mechanisms and intercellular transfer of microRNAs in living cells. J.Biol.Chem. 2010;285:17442-52.

Lamparski HG, Metha-Damani A, Yao JY et al. Production and characterization of clinical grade exosomes derived from dendritic cells. J.Immunol.Methods 2002;270:211-26.

Lasser C, Eldh M, Lotvall J. Isolation and characterization of RNA-containing exosomes. J.Vis.Exp. 2012;(59):e3037. doi:e3037.

Lasser C, O'Neil SE, Ekerljung L, Ekström K, Sjostrand M, Lötvall J. RNA-containing exosomes in human nasal secretions. Am.J.Rhinol.Allergy 2011;25:89-93.

Le MT, Hamar P, Guo C et al. miR-200-containing extracellular vesicles promote breast cancer cell metastasis. J.Clin.Invest. 2014;124:5109-28.

Lee K, Shao H, Weissleder R, Lee H. Acoustic purification of extracellular microvesicles. ACS Nano 2015;9:2321-7.

Li J, Sherman-Baust CA, Tsai-Turton M, Bristow RE, Roden RB, Morin PJ. Claudin-containing exosomes in the peripheral circulation of women with ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer 2009;9:244,2407-9-244.

Liga A, Vliegenthart AD, Oosthuyzen W, Dear JW, Kersaudy-Kerhoas M. Exosome isolation: a microfluidic road-map. Lab.Chip 2015;15:2388-94.

Lodish H, Berk A, Kaiser CA et al, eds. Molecular Cell Biology. 6 th ed. W.H. Reeman and Company. New York: 2008.

Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. J.Extracell Vesicles 2014;3:26913.

Luzio JP, Pryor PR, Gray SR, Gratian MJ, Piper RC, Bright NA. Membrane traffic to and from lysosomes. Biochem.Soc.Symp. 2005;(72):77-86.

Mackman N. On the trail of microparticles. Circ.Res. 2009;104:925-7.

Masyuk AI, Huang BQ, Ward CJ et al. Biliary exosomes influence cholangiocyte regulatory mechanisms and proliferation through interaction with primary cilia. Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol. 2010;299:G990-9.

Melo SA, Luecke LB, Kahlert C et al. Glypican-1 identifies cancer exosomes and detects early pancreatic cancer. Nature 2015;523:177-82.

Meyer K, Thompson R, Palmer JW, Khorazo D. The Nature of Lysozyme Action. Science 1934;79:61.

Minciacchi VR, Freeman MR, Di Vizio D. Extracellular vesicles in cancer: exosomes, microvesicles and the emerging role of large oncosomes. Semin.Cell Dev.Biol. 2015;40:41-51.

Mitchell PJ, Welton J, Staffurth J et al. Can urinary exosomes act as treatment response markers in prostate cancer? J.Transl.Med. 2009;7:4,5876-7-4.

Morello M, Minciacchi VR, de Candia P et al. Large oncosomes mediate intercellular transfer of functional microRNA. Cell.Cycle 2013;12:3526-36.

Muller L, Hong CS, Stolz DB, Watkins SC, Whiteside TL. Isolation of biologically-active exosomes from human plasma. J.Immunol.Methods 2014;411:55-65.

Muralidharan-Chari V, Clancy J, Plou C et al. ARF6-regulated shedding of tumor cell-derived plasma membrane microvesicles. Curr.Biol. 2009;19:1875-85.

Musante L, Tataruch D, Gu D et al. A simplified method to recover urinary vesicles for clinical applications, and sample banking. Sci.Rep. 2014;4:7532.

Nagai A, Sato T, Akimoto N, Ito A, Sumida M. Isolation and identification of histone H3 protein enriched in microvesicles secreted from cultured sebocytes. Endocrinology 2005;146:2593-601.

Nordin JZ, Lee Y, Vader P et al. Ultrafiltration with size-exclusion liquid chromatography for high yield isolation of extracellular vesicles preserving intact biophysical and functional properties. Nanomedicine 2015;11:879-83.

Ogawa Y, Kanai-Azuma M, Akimoto Y, Kawakami H, Yanoshita R. Exosome-like vesicles with dipeptidyl peptidase IV in human saliva. Biol.Pharm.Bull. 2008;31:1059-62.

Peterson MF, Otoc N, Sethi JK, Gupta A, Antes TJ. Integrated systems for exosome investigation. Methods 2015.

Pisitkun T, Shen RF, Knepper MA. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 2004;101:13368-73.

Rabinowits G, Gercel-Taylor C, Day JM, Taylor DD, Kloecker GH. Exosomal microRNA: a diagnostic marker for lung cancer. Clin.Lung Cancer. 2009;10:42-6.

Raposo G, Nijman HW, Stoorvogel W et al. B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. J.Exp.Med. 1996;183:1161-72.

Rilla K, Pasonen-Seppanen S, Deen AJ et al. Hyaluronan production enhances shedding of plasma membrane-derived microvesicles. Exp.Cell Res. 2013;319:2006-18.

Rilla K, Siiskonen H, Tammi M, Tammi R. Hyaluronan-coated extracellular vesicles--a novel link between hyaluronan and cancer. Adv.Cancer Res. 2014;123:121-48.

Rilla K, Tiihonen R, Kultti A, Tammi M, Tammi R. Pericellular hyaluronan coat visualized in live cells with a fluorescent probe is scaffolded by plasma membrane protrusions. J.Histochem.Cytochem. 2008;56:901-10.

Ronquist G, Brody I. The prostasome: its secretion and function in man. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1985;822:203-18.

Shelke GV, Lasser C, Gho YS, Lotvall J. Importance of exosome depletion protocols to eliminate functional and RNA-containing extracellular vesicles from fetal bovine serum. J.Extracell Vesicles 2014;3:10.3402/jev.v3.24783. eCollection 2014.

Simpson RJ, Jensen SS, Lim JW. Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives. Proteomics 2008;8:4083-99.

Sims PJ, Faioni EM, Wiedmer T, Shattil SJ. Complement proteins C5b-9 cause release of membrane vesicles from the platelet surface that are enriched in the membrane receptor for coagulation factor Va and express prothrombinase activity. J.Biol.Chem. 1988;263:18205-12.

Skog J, Wurdinger T, van Rijn S et al. Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. Nat.Cell Biol. 2008a;10:1470-6.

Skog J, Wurdinger T, van Rijn S et al. Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. Nat.Cell Biol. 2008b;10:1470-6.

Skriner K, Adolph K, Jungblut PR, Burmester GR. Association of citrullinated proteins with synovial exosomes. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54:3809-14.

Stein JM, Luzio JP. Ectocytosis caused by sublytic autologous complement attack on human neutrophils. The sorting of endogenous plasma-membrane proteins and lipids into shed vesicles. Biochem.J. 1991;274 (Pt 2):381-6.

Stenmark H. Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol. 2009;10:513-25.

Szatanek R, Baran J, Siedlar M, Baj-Krzyworzeka M. Isolation of extracellular vesicles: Determining the correct approach (Review). Int.J.Mol.Med. 2015;36:11-7.

Tammi MI, Day AJ, Turley EA. Hyaluronan and homeostasis: a balancing act. J.Biol.Chem. 2002;277:4581-4.

Tauro BJ, Greening DW, Mathias RA et al. Comparison of ultracentrifugation, density gradient separation, and immunoaffinity capture methods for isolating human colon cancer cell line LIM1863-derived exosomes. Methods 2012;56:293-304.

Taylor DD, Gercel-Taylor C. MicroRNA signatures of tumor-derived exosomes as diagnostic biomarkers of ovarian cancer. Gynecol.Oncol. 2008;110:13-21.

Theos AC, Truschel ST, Tenza D et al. A lumenal domain-dependent pathway for sorting to intralumenal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes involved in organelle morphogenesis. Dev.Cell. 2006;10:343-54.

Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Curr.Protoc.Cell.Biol. 2006;Chapter 3:Unit 3.22.

Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S et al. Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. Science 2008;319:1244-7.

Trams EG, Lauter CJ, Salem N,Jr, Heine U. Exfoliation of membrane ecto-enzymes in the form of micro-vesicles. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1981;645:63-70.

Tuck S. Extracellular vesicles: budding regulated by a phosphatidylethanolamine translocase. Curr.Biol. 2011;21:R988-90.

van der Pol E, Boing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. Pharmacol.Rev. 2012;64:676-705.

van der Pol E, Hoekstra AG, Sturk A, Otto C, van Leeuwen TG, Nieuwland R. Optical and nonoptical methods for detection and characterization of microparticles and exosomes. J.Thromb.Haemost. 2010;8:2596-607.

van der Vlist EJ, Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Stoorvogel W, Arkesteijn GJ, Wauben MH. Fluorescent labeling of nano-sized vesicles released by cells and subsequent quantitative and qualitative analysis by high-resolution flow cytometry. Nat.Protoc. 2012;7:1311-26.

VanWijk MJ, VanBavel E, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Microparticles in cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovasc.Res. 2003;59:277-87.

Vlassov AV, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R. Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 2012;1820:940-8.

von Schwedler UK, Stuchell M, Muller B et al. The protein network of HIV budding. Cell 2003;114:701-13.

Waldenstrom A, Genneback N, Hellman U, Ronquist G. Cardiomyocyte microvesicles contain DNA/RNA and convey biological messages to target cells. PLoS One 2012;7:e34653.

Weigel PH, DeAngelis PL. Hyaluronan synthases: a decade-plus of novel glycosyltransferases. J.Biol.Chem. 2007;282:36777-81.

Weissmann,Bernard, Meyer,Karl. The Structure of Hyalobiuronic Acid and of Hyaluronic Acid from Umbilical Cord.

Wiedmer T, Sims PJ. Participation of protein kinases in complement C5b-9-induced shedding of platelet plasma membrane vesicles. Blood 1991;78:2880-6.

Witwer KW, Buzas EI, Bemis LT et al. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. J.Extracell Vesicles 2013;2:10.3402/jev.v2i0.20360. eCollection 2013.

Wolf P. The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br.J.Haematol. 1967;13:269.

Yao K, Wu X, Thompson JE, Carlson JC. Isolation and characterization of deteriosomes from rat liver. J.Cell.Biochem. 1993;51:488-94.

Yu X, Harris SL, Levine AJ. The regulation of exosome secretion: a novel function of the p53 protein. Cancer Res. 2006;66:4795-801.

Zylbersztejn K, Galli T. Vesicular traffic in cell navigation. FEBS J. 2011;278:4497-505.